PROVIDED TO LAKE CI

IN THE SUPREME COURT

STATE OF FLORIDA

CRAIG B. DANIELS, Appellant,

V.

S.CT. CASE NO: SC11-1646 DCA CASE NO: 1D11-0969

STATE OF FLORIDA, Appellee.

AMENDED JURISDICTIONAL BRIEF

Craig B. Daniels, DC# 091436 Lake Correctional Institution 19225 U.S. Highway 27 Clermont, FL 34715-9025

PROCEDURAL HISTORY

On or about October 25, 2004, the Appellant was arrested and charged by Information to One Count of Robbery with a Firearm Section 812.13(2)(a), Florida Statutes (2004); One Count of Grand Theft Section 812.014(1)(a), Florida Statutes (2004) and Burglary of a Conveyance with Dangerous Weapon Section 810.02(1)(b), Florida Statutes (2004). On or about May 19, 2005, the Appellant was sentenced to two Life sentences running consecutive.

On May 20, 2005, the Appellant timely appealed his judgment and conviction. The Appellant's direct appeal became per curiam affirmed on June 15, 2007. See Daniels v. State, 959 So.2d 756 (Fla. 1st DCA 2007). On January 28, 2008, the Appellant filed his first Motion for Postconviction Relief. The trial court struck said motion without prejudice. On September 4, 2008, the Appellant filed his second Motion for Postconviction Relief, which was dismissed because it did not contain an oath. On October 17, 2008, the Appellant refiled his motion correcting the deficiency. On April 20, 2009, the Appellant moved to voluntarily dismiss the said motion as it was inadequately pled. On June 11, 2009, the Appellant filed an Amended Motion for Postconviction Relief which was not addressed on its merits but rather denied with prejudice. The Appellant timely appealed both the Motion to Dismiss and Motion for Postconviction Relief. (See Case no: 1D10-0969). The attached opinion has warranted this brief.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard governing review of decisions of law is referred to as the De Novo Standard. Sumner Group Inc. v. M.C. Distribution, Inc., 949 So.2d 1205 (Fla. 4th DCA 2007).

<u>ISSUE I</u>

THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEALS IS IN EXPRESS AND DIRECT CONFLICT WITH RULINGS FROM OTHER DISTRICT COURTS INCLUDING THE FLORIDA SUPREME COURT.

ARGUMENT

The Appellant's argument herein is quite simple! The Appellant filed a second Amended Motion for Postconviction Relief pursuant to *Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure 3.850*. On April 20, 2009, this Appellant timely filed a Motion to Voluntarily Dismiss his *Rule 3.850*. However, the trial court did not rule on the Appellant's Motion to Voluntarily Dismiss, but rather the trial court denied the Appellant's Motion for Postconviction Relief and Dismissed with prejudice the Amended and corrected 3.850. The Appellant notes here that in his Voluntary Motion to Dismiss he was attempting to correct the deficiencies of his motion to gain a proper and fair ruling. However, this did not take place.

Florida law is well established in holding "Because a Motion for Voluntary Dismissal was filed before the court ruled on his postconviction motion and there was no prejudice to the state, the Appellant was entitled to withdraw his Rule

3.850)". Davis v. State, 28 So.3d 168 (Fla. 1st DCA 2010) and Hutchinson v. State, 921 So.2d 780 (Fla. 1st DCA 2006).

In the case at bar, the Appellant's Motion to Dismiss was never ruled upon. The trial court erred when it ruled upon the Appellant's 3.850 and did not rule on the Motion for Voluntary Dismissal. The Appellant was attempting to correct his own deficiency before the trial court made its ruling and dismissed the Appellant's Motion for him to refile an Amended and corrected motion pursuant to *Spera v. State*, 971 So.2d 754 (Fla. 2007).

However, the Appellant was not even given this opportunity to correct his facially insufficient motion. The Appellant did however file an Amended Motion for Postconviction Relief which was timely and facially sufficient. This motion was dismissed with prejudice and never addressed on its merits.

THE APPEAL AND OPINION

The Appellant timely appealed the final order of the trial court. In the opinion filed by the First District Court of Appeal (See Exhibit A), the opinion consists of the facts that the motion that was pending before the court, had been amended to several times and that the Appellant had several opportunities pursuant to *Spera* to correct this motion. However, this is not the case. The Appellant's original Motion for Postconviction Relief Rule 3.850 filed on February 6, 2008,

was struck by the trial court. The Appellant filed an Amended Rule 3.850 on March 19, 2008. This motion was also struck. Thus, the present motion that was filed by the Appellant was only his second Rule 3.850. Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure 3.850(f) states: A second or successive motion may be dismissed if the judge finds that it fails to allege new or different grounds for relief and the prior determination was on the merits, or if new and different grounds are alleged, the judge finds that the failure of the movant or the attorney to assert those grounds in a prior motion constituted an abuse of procedure governed by these rules. In the instant case, the Appellant's recently filed motion does assert and allege different grounds to which have never been addressed by the trial court. Moreover, the Appellant's two year period had not expired upon the filing of said motion. Thus, the appellate court in issuing its opinion misapplied the ruling in Spera.

THE CONFLICT OF LAW

The Supreme Court held in *Engle v. Liggett Group Inc.*, 945 So.2d 1246 (Fla. 2006) cert. denied 128 S. CT. 96 (U.S. 2007) that express conflict may be based upon the misapplication of a decision. *Aguilera v. Inservices Inc.*, 905 So.2d 84 (Fla. 2005). In the case at bar the Appellant's recent opinion conflicts with a previous decision in *Davis v. State*, 28 So.3d 168 (Fla. 1St DCA 2010) and *Smith v. State*, 2 So.3d 1073 (Fla. 4th DCA 2009). There the appellate courts stated "A

¹ The Appellant's two year time period had not expired upon the filing of the Final Amended Motion for

Motion for Voluntary Dismissal was filed before the court ruled on the postconviction motion, there was no prejudice to the state, and the appellant was entitled to withdraw his Rule 3.850. *Davis*, supra.

Thus, it is the same in *Smith*, supra. There the appellate court reversed the order of the trial court holding that the Appellant's motion was not successive and untimely. As the trial court had applied. In the instant case the same applies here as in *Davis*, supra. The Appellant timely filed a Motion to Voluntarily Dismiss which was not ruled upon. Thus the appellate court did commit a reversible error when it issued its opinion and denied the Appellant his right to have his motion properly ruled upon.

The appellate court and trial court should have applied the ruling from the Florida Supreme Court in *Bryant v. State*, 901 So.2d 810 (Fla. 2005) wherein it states as follows "Based upon due process concerns, logically extends to the other postconviction claims". In *Bryant*, we noted that ["I]n a civil context, striking pleadings and dismissing with prejudice are considered severe sanctions that require a strong justification. And that "Dismissing a [civil] complaint without granting at least one opportunity to amend is considered an abuse of discretion unless the complaint is not amendable". *Spera*, supra.

Thus the law is very clear on this matter holding that the trial court as well as the appellate court both erred in failing to rule on the Appellant's Motion for Voluntary Dismissal.

CONCLUSION

WHEREFORE, the Appellant in this cause prays that this Honorable Court grant jurisdiction over this appeal and resolve the said conflict between the District Courts and within itself.