IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CRAIG B. DANIELS,
Petitioner,

v. CASE NO. SC11-____

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

On Discretionary Review from the First District Court of Appeal: NON-Certified Conflict

JURISDICTIONAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

PAMELA JO BONDI ATTORNEY GENERAL

TRISHA MEGGS PATE
Bureau Chief, Tallahassee
Criminal Appeals
Florida Bar No. 045489

CHARLES R. MCCOY
Senior Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar No. 333646

Office of the Attorney General
The Capitol, Suite PL-01
Tallahassee, Florida 32399-1050
(850) 414-3300
(850) 922-6674 (fax)

Counsel for Respondent

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

<u>Case</u>--Daniels seeks review of the First District's decision, which upheld denial of his third and fourth amended rule 3.850 motions; and denial of his motion to voluntarily dismiss the third 3.850 motion without prejudice. The decision below did not certify conflict, and was issued June 28, 2011.

By operation of the mailbox rule, Daniels filed a motion for rehearing July 6. That motion was denied August 4; the mandate issued August 22. By that time, Daniels had already filed a "notice of appeal;" which, tacitly, has been treated as a notice to invoke this court's jurisdiction.

Facts from Decision Below—The decision below began by noting Daniels appealed from denial of his third and fourth rule 3.850 motions, and from denial of his motion to voluntarily dismiss the third motion. (opinion, p.1). Thus, Daniels had been given two opportunities to amend his original motion, in February and June 2008, respectively; to correct facial deficiencies. The motion for voluntary dismissal addressed the third amended motion while contemplating a fourth. (opinion, p.4-5).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The decision below correctly recognized <u>Spera</u> changed the law on postconviction court response to facially insufficient motions. By conforming to <u>Spera</u> and correctly applying it, the decision below did not conflict with any pre-<u>Spera</u> decisions. Also, any conflict between the decision below and other <u>First</u> DCA decisions does not

establish a basis for review by this court. Lacking jurisdiction, this court should decline review.

Alternatively, if Spencer has demonstrated "misapplication" of <u>Spera</u>, review should still be declined. He had been given two opportunities to amend his original 3.850 motion; filed a third; and at least contemplated a fourth amended motion. The postconviction court properly found his actions to be an abuse of process. It does no violence to the law for Spencer's entire action to be dismissed with prejudice. The postconviction court, and decision below, reached the right result, so further review is not justified.

ARGUMENT

DOES THIS COURT HAVE, OR SHOULD IT EXERCISE, JURISDICTION TO REVIEW THE DECISION BELOW? (Restated).

A. Standard of Review

To find jurisdiction, this court must determine whether the decision below conflicts with decision of another district court or this court—a question of law answered de novo. Cf. Jacobsen v. Ross Stores, 882 So.2d 431, 432 (Fla. 1st DCA 2004) (questions of subject matter jurisdiction are reviewed de novo).

B. No Jurisdiction

Spencer cannot reasonably maintain the decision below created jurisdictional conflict. To the contrary, his first point relies not on conflict, but on "misapplication" jurisdiction supposedly announced in Engle v. Liggett Group, Inc., 945 So. 2d 1246 (Fla. 2006),

cert. den., 552 U.S. 941 (2007).

Engle, in its prefatory summary of holdings only, declared:

We have jurisdiction because $Engle\ II$ misapplies our decision in Young v. Miami Beach Improvement Co., 46 So. 2d 26 (Fla.1950). See art. V, $\S3(b)(3)$, Fla. Const. [e.s.].

Further, a majority of the Court ... concludes that Engle II misapplied our decision on the law of the case doctrine in Florida Department of Transportation v. Juliano, 801 So.2d 101, 106 (Fla.2001)[.]

A majority of the Court ... also concludes that the Third District misapplied <u>Ault v. Lohr</u>, 538 So.2d 454, 456 (Fla.1989)[.]

945 So.2d at 1254.

Notably, the only constitutional authority cited for so-called "misapplication jurisdiction" was $Art.V, \S 3(b)(3)$, which provides in pertinent part:

- (b) **Jurisdiction.**—The supreme court:
- (3) May review any decision of a district court of appeal that ... expressly and directly conflicts with a decision of another district court of appeal or of the supreme court on the same question of law.

Nowhere in this language does the state constitution speak in terms of "misapplies" or "misapplication." Also, when the three instances of misapplication (Young, Juliano, Ault) are studied, it is readily apparent that the so-called "misapplication" was "conflict" by any other name.

The <u>Young</u> court held citizens of Miami Beach were bond by a judgment enjoining the city from asserting an interest in certain real property. The holding was based on the premise that a "judgment against a municipal corporation in a matter of *general interest to*"

all its citizens is binding on the latter, although they are not parties to the suit." Engle at 1260, quoting Young at at 30 (emphasis supplied [by Young]).

Young found the judgment binding because the city was acting in a parens patriae capacity. The district court's decision in Engle, however, extended Young to bar class punitive damage claims based on a settlement agreement which addressed punitive damages between the State itself and tobacco companies only. See Engle at 1260-2 (contrasting Young and the district court's decision in Engle at 1260-2 not short, the district court in Engle reached the same result as Young, but on materially different facts--a classic definition of "conflict."

See id. at 1260-2 (explaining the misapplication of

Engle bears no similarity to this case. There, review addressed, among other things, certification of a huge class of plaintiffs suing over injury from cigarette smoking.; in a case involving a civil suit over

It began by noting he supported his argument with caselaw preceding <u>Spera v. State</u>, 971 so.2d 754 (Fla.2007). (opinion, p.2). It then moved to its central premise, that <u>Spera</u> changed the "process for evaluating postconviction motions." (*Id.*). After that decision, the opinion reasoned, the postconviction court was required to give one opportunity to amend a facially insufficient motion, but not

"unlimited" opportunities to do so. (*Id.*, p.2-3). It then cited two of its own post-Spera decisions (Prevost and Nelson), and the Fourth DCA's decision in Oquendo v. State, 2 So.3d 1001 (Fla.4th DCA 2008). (opinion, p.3).

The decision below correctly recognized <u>Spera</u> changed the law on postconviction court response to facially insufficient motions. By conforming to <u>Spera</u> and correctly applying it, the decision below did not conflict with any pre-<u>Spera</u> decisions. Also, any conflict between the decision below and other <u>First</u> DCA decisions does not establish a basis for review by this court. Lacking jurisdiction, this court should decline review.

C. Jurisdiction Should Not Be Exercised

Alternatively, if Spencer has demonstrated conflict or misapplication of <u>Spera</u>, review should still be declined. He had been given two opportunities to amend his original 3.850 motion; filed a third, and at least contemplated a fourth amended motion. The court properly found his actions to be an abuse of process. It does no violence to the law for Spencer's 3.850 action to be dismissed with prejudice. At the least, the postconviction court reached the right result, so further review is not justified.

CONCLUSION

This court lacks jurisdiction to review the decision below, so Daniel's petition must be denied. Alternatively, this court should decline to exercise its jurisdiction.